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The christianization of territories which, much later, constituted France, is a 
long story. On good authority, until the middle of the 3rd century, the territories 
christianized by the Gauls were Provence and the Rhone valley, as well as the 
Roman province of Narbonne. The first bishops had already settled in cathedrals 
dedicated, for the greater part, to Saint Étienne, lined with baptistries dedicated 
to Saint Jean-Baptiste. They presided over vast territories, the dioceses which 
the council of Chalcédoine in 451 called parochia, spread over the whole 
civitas, or civil district of the Empire. 

In the 5th century every civitas of Gaul was finally endowed with a cathedral-
church and constituted a diocese. Meanwhile, villages (vici) and certain forti-
fied cities (castella) contained either a church (ecclesia) without relics, or a 
basilica (basilica) dedicated to the saint whose relics were deposited and wor-
shipped there. In addition there were numerous places of worship in the 
countryside (oratoria) built by owners of big domains (villae). 

In the 6th century the works of Grégoire of Tours gave us places of worship 
dedicated to the holy apostles, to other scriptural saints, to martyrs of the 
Roman Empire, and finally to the local saints. The construction of places of 
worship encouraged the population in the vicinity to frequent these new places, 
enabling the formation of new parishes. 

It was not until the Carolingian period that significant development of the 
former parishes took place, thanks to imperial legislation which created new 
parishes stemming from the dismemberment of the former or from clearings 
on their margins. In the 11–13th centuries, new parishes were created by this 
process, and also by further encroachment on forests, uninhabited areas 
(deserta) and the lower slopes of mountains. There were diverse motivations 
behind the creation of these various new districts: abbeys were used for the 
purpose of asset management (in the 11–12th centuries), military orders for 
territorial influence (12–13th centuries), and lay Lords for the purpose of 
attracting the local population (10–14th centuries) through the construction of 
a church in or around the castle (castrum) and the construction of new towns 
(nova villa, bastida, castelnau, etc.). The construction of numerous churches 
outside of towns led to the movement of the population and to the creation of 
new parishes. 

1. Latin was the official language of the Church from the time of the Roman 
Empire. It was also the language of royal power until the 14th century. The 
rural Lords and cities used Latin until the 13th century but abandoned it more  
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quickly than other institutions in favour of Occitan (in the 11th century) and in 
French and Franco-Provençal (13th century). However, these institutions lagged 
behind literary use as some works were written in French from the 11th century 
and some years later in Occitan. 

In Latin texts, the hagiotoponyms (i.e. patrociny settlement names) which 
appeared the earliest in vernacular languages were written in Old High German 
in the 8th century, in Old Breton in the 9th century, in Old Occitan in the 10th 
century and in Old French and Franco-Provençal in the 11th century. Accord-
ing to the types of source materials, hagiotoponyms were mainly written in 
vernaculars from the 13th century. We must not overlook the numerous pouillés 
(statements of income of every diocese or ecclesiastical province) during the 
18th century: all place names were still written in Latin, the form of which is 
often far removed from that seen in writing in the 13th century. 

The hagiotoponyms usually derived from the local church name: this is a well-
known metonymic method (ecclesia sancti Nazarii > villa Sancti Nazarii), 
hence the church dedication name becomes first the church name, then the 
name of the place (village or other) where is the church located. When the 
church is dedicated to two or more patron saints, one is chosen to give his 
name to the place: for example, Saint-Cyrice (Tarn-et-Garonne) gets its name 
from the church dedicated to St. Cyr and his mother St. Julitte. This method 
may be of popular origin, but also ecclesiastical or seigneurial, according to 
the decision of an authority that had control of the spot where the place of 
worship was located. There are also many hagiotoponyms that designate places 
which are owned by an abbey, a priory, church, fraternity or a military order: 
these places may contain a church; cf. the villam Sancti Remigii in 966 
(SCHIEFFER 1977: n° 40), later Saint-Rémy-de-Provence (Bouches-du-Rhône), 
which is an abbey dependency of Saint-Remi of Reims, with its church and 
territory dedicated to St. Remy. There are also places without any houses such 
as campo Sancti Mauricii in 1222 (RIGAULT 2008: 667) in Autun (Saône-et-
Loire), a dependency of the secular lordship of Saint-Maurice, situated over 
20 km away. In addition there are places of popular worship without any 
buildings such as Fontaine de Sainte-Claire in 1757 (RIGAULT 2008: 647), in 
Mont (Saône-et-Loire), dedicated to the saint known to restore sight to the 
blind. 

The texts offer very little evidence to determine exactly who gave the name to 
a place. The place founder (of an abbey or priory, etc.) is often presented as the 
one who gave his name to the place. As reported in his life, written in 784–
791 (MGH, SRM, VI, 288), the abbot Trond founded in about 660 a villam ex 
nomine sancti patris Trudonecas appellavit, the village today called Trognée 
(Belgium), whose church is dedicated to St. Trond. Likewise, as reported in 
the Life of St. Agile written in 684–690 (AASS, Août VI, 582), a certain Radon  
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founded a monastery in about 630: quod ex suo nomine Radolium vocavit, the 
village today called Reuil-en-Brie (Seine-et-Marne). The monastery Marmoutier 
(Bas-Rhin), called Loewatzell in 720 (referring to the St. Leopard monastery; 
BISCH–MULLER-ZEIGER 1995: II, 31), was destroyed during the 8th century 
and rebuilt by abbot Maur: it is attested as monasterium Mauri in 834–835; 
here it is likely that the new name was chosen by the monastic community. In 
contrast, the cathedral city of Convenae, whose name dates back to ancient 
times, in the 12th century took the name urbs Sancti Bertrandi (> Saint-
Bertrand-de-Comminges, Haute-Garonne), attested to St. Bertrand’s life written 
after 1174 (BLADÉ 1893: 346), in tribute to the former bishop Bertrand who 
ruled from 1073 to 1123 and was canonized by Pope Honorius III in 1220. 
The worship conducted on that site from the mid-12th century provoked an 
Episcopal investigation and in particular, the allocation of its name to the city 
by the vox populi. 

Both cartularies in the earliest records about the foundation of abbeys and 
priories, and saints’ lives (whether abbots or not) show the prominent role of 
the place founder: he gives his name to the institution he founded, to the place 
where he founded it, or changes the previous name of the institution or place. 
To the extent that these sources emanate from religious authorities, they high-
light the action of such figures in the appointment of these places. On the 
other hand, the acts of kings and their history show that they have too tended 
to identify places or to change their previous names: a source before 1108 
specifies that the city of Compiegne was nominated Karlopolis ‘Charles City’ 
because it had been founded by King Charles the Bald and named by himself: 
“Karolis igitur Calvus… aedificavit in regno suo Compendium villam et eam 
Karlopolim suo de nomine vocari praecepit” (VINCENT 1937: 68). 

The motivations of place names formed on a saint’s name are varied and can be 
different depending on whether the name is “simple” (Saint-X) or syntagmatic 
(Y-Saint-X). 

For “simple” names, the oldest and most common motivation is formation 
from the patron saint’s name of the local church. In the 6th century, according 
to the works of Gregory of Tours, the basilicae were dedicated to saints 
whose contain the body (St. Aubin in Angers, Maine-et-Loire), or relics (St. 
Nazaire in the place which will be called Saint-Nazaire in 1050, Loire-
Atlantique). This process continued even under the Old Regime. The place 
names come from the names of saints who died there, whether martyrs or not, 
such as Bishop Quentin in Saint-Quentin (Aisne) in 895. The abbot and founder 
of the monastery: Lupicin in Saint-Lupicin (Jura) in the 14th century. The name 
of the saint who founded the parish: St. Martin of Vertou in Pont-Saint-Martin 
(Loire-Atlantique) in 1179. The name of the saint who founded the abbey or 
priory: St. Omer in Saint-Omer (Pas-de-Calais) in 864–875. The local bishop’s  
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name: St. Pol in Saint-Pol-de-Léon (Finistère) in 869–870. The (legendary) 
builder of the monument: St. Benezet in Pont-Saint-Benezet in Avignon 
(Vaucluse) in 1307. The place name of the saint’s birth: St. Bénilde in Rue 
Saint-Bénilde in Thuret (Puy-de-Dôme) in the 20th century. The name of the 
saint whose cult is connected to a spring on this site: St. Claire in Fontaine de 
Sainte-Claire in Mont (Saône-et-Loire) in 1757. The name of the patron saint 
of the abbey or priory there: St. Michael in Saint-Mihiel (Meuse) in 756. The 
name of the patron saint of the church there: St. Menehould in Sainte-Menehould 
(Marne) in 1148. The name of the patron saint of a religious institution: St. 
John the Baptist in Saint-Jean-de-Marsacq (Landes) in the 12th century. The 
name of the patron saint of the parish (but not the church): St. Julien in Saint-
Julien-du-Verdon (Alpes-de-Haute-Provence) in 1300. The abbey or priory 
on whose name the place depends: Saint-Remi of Reims in Saint-Remy-de-
Provence (Bouches-du-Rhône) in 966. Other motivations, in far fewer cases, 
can still be found according to the medieval and modern literature. 

For the syntagmatic names, the oldest motivation is the formation on the abbey, 
priory or church name on which the place depends: Saint-Pierre de Mâcon in 
Grange Saint-Pierre (Saône-et-Loire), attested as Aream Sancti Petri in 827–
926 (RIGAULT 2008: 354). Place names are also names formed from locally 
born saints, St. Bernard of Menthon gives us Menthon-Saint-Bernard (Haute-
Savoie), so called since 1943. Saints who died in the locality, such as St. 
Andéol in Bourg-Saint-Andéol (Ardèche) in 1368. The local bishop: St. Corentin 
in Quimper-Corentin (Finistère) in 1085. The patron saint of a religious 
institution at that site: St. Mary in Moustiers-Sainte-Marie (Alpes-de-Haute-
Provence) in 1847. However, most of these names are formed from a place 
name in Saint-X, a nearby town name; e.g. the merger of two towns as Boisset-
Saint-Priest (Loire) in 1801, or the merger of two communities before the 
creation of communes in 1790, as in Alise Sainte Reine (Côte-d’Or) in the 17th 
century. We can also cite the city capital of the canton (one purpose of distin-
guishing between homonyms), as in Bretteville-Saint-Laurent (Seine-Maritime) 
in 1856; a hamlet: Beaumerie-Saint-Martin (Pas-de-Calais) before 1818; a 
castle: Laval-Saint-Roman (Gard) in 1778–1779; a wood: Villiers-Saint-Frédéric 
(Yvelines) in 1801; or a local mountain: Plan-d’Aups-Sainte-Baume (Var) in 
1993. 

In syntagmatic names, adding a name to Saint-X has as its principal aim the 
distinction between two homonyms, within the same diocese before 1789, in 
the same department from 1790, or even within the whole French territory. 
Thus, on the 9th of September 1847 the Postmaster General asked the town of 
Moustiers (at the time in the Basses-Alpes) to change its name to distinguish 
it from Mouthier (in Doubs), suggesting the -Fountains suffix because of its 
water or -Saint-Beauvezer because of a neighbouring chapel; on October the 
24th the city decided to add Sainte-Marie to its name—the former monastery  
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which was at the origin of the city name (monasterium > Moustiers) (cf. Le 
Magasin pittoresque 34 [1866]: 238). 

A few linguistic processes have served over the centuries to form hagio-
toponyms. They can all be dated to the 5–7th centuries. Apparently the oldest 
and most common is metonymy: ecclesia sancti Nazarii > Saint-Nazaire. In 
any case, that is the earliest attested: the short testament of St. Remi mentions, 
before 533, the villam Sancti Stephani which became Saint-Étienne-sur-Suippe 
(Marne) (STRATMANN  1998: 100). In the same period appear the first names 
coming from derivatives and compounds. The only process used later to form 
hagiotoponyms is remotivation: for example Santollam (in 1119) is interpreted 
as Sancte Olle villam in 1144, now Sainte-Olle (Nord), and it does not corres-
pond to any known saint name (POULET 1997: 107). 

2. The first hagiotoponyms that appear in the documentation must be dated 
earlier than 533, during the drafting of the short testament of St. Remi, arch-
bishop of Reims. The creation by metonymy of place names in Sanctus begins 
most likely around the year 500. The baptism of the Frankish king, Clovis, on 
December 25th between 496 and 509, by the archbishop led to the increased 
Christianization of cities especially rural areas. 

The study of current etymons of French communes’ names suggests that only 
about 1% of names with roots going back with near certainty to a period prior 
to the 8th century are based on a saint’s name. In the early 19th century, approxi-
mately 15% of names of all communes formed between Antiquity and 1800 
were based on a saint’s name. This difference came about during the Middle 
Ages, the most productive period being between the 10th and the 13th centuries: 
the foundation of new parishes resulted in new names; the renaming of former 
parishes resulted at times in the choice of a hagiotoponym. This is proved by 
texts of the 9th to 13th centuries (mostly during the 11–13th centuries) and the 
phenomenon is considerably rarer thereafter. This trend is symptomatic of an 
era when religion took precedence over politics: more religious buildings were 
constructed in both cities and the countryside, and the change of name may 
have come from the vox populi, or from a decision of the clergy or a lay lord, 
or else the lay people who managed cities (mayors, councils, consuls, etc.). 

From the 14th century, the creation of new parishes became very rare: topo-
nymic creations too. While some parishes continued to be created until the 
1990s in the larger cities, without causing the birth of new municipalities, the 
latest creation of a parish that has led to the creation of a new municipality 
concerns the parish Saint-Joseph, built by order of January 14th 1857 with his 
new church in the rural village of Brix, in the territory of the parishes of Brix 
and Tamerville. An Act of April 9th 1929 erected a new municipality, Saint-
Joseph, whose territory covered a portion of those of Brix, Tamerville, Négre-
ville and Valognes (Manche).  
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However, the name changes that affect cities and towns are not only more 
rare, but mostly do not favour more hagiotoponyms. The last case concerns 
the municipality of Sainte-Eugénie-de-Villeneuve (Haute-Loire): following the 
merger of the village called Fix-Bas with the municipality called Fix-Saint-
Genès, the commune’s Fix-Villeneuve was replaced by that of Villeneuve 
under an Act of May 29th 1858, and was then called Sainte-Eugénie-de-Ville-
neuve by a decree of 1860 (CHASSAING–JACOTIN 1907: 249–250). This name 
change is obviously due to the gratitude from the municipality to Emperor 
Napoléon III who chose to give the village the patron saint’s name of his 
wife, Eugénie. There is no parish here, but only the appearance of a speedy 
beatification by the vox populi. 

3. The spread of hagiotoponyms in the whole territory is due to several factors. 
One of these is pilgrimage. King Louis VII, on his return from St-Jacques de 
Compostela, went to Saint-Sernin at Toulouse in 1155 and afterwards founded 
a chapel dedicated to St. Sernin in his castle of Fontainebleau (Seine-et-
Marne) (VOLAT 1996: 80–81). In Gascony in particular, the pilgrim routes to 
St-Jacques are dotted with place names such as Sainte-Eulalie referring to St. 
Eulalie of Merida (HIGOUNET 1958: 112). 

The road, apart from any pilgrimage, is another way to spread the cult of a 
saint: places named Sainte-Radegonde, in Merovingian Aquitaine, were clearly 
located on or near major pathways (HIGOUNET 1953: 164). It is the same for 
the places named Saint-Maurice, in the Merovingian Limousin (AUBRUN 
1981: 263–264). 

Rivers and streams are means of conveying sacred relics, especially in times 
of invasion. This is the case of the relics of St. Émilien, bishop of Nantes in 
the 4th century, whose name is found in Saint-Émilien near Nantes (Loire-
Atlantique), and who sailed up the Loire and skirted the Morvan to be sheltered 
in Autun, hence the names Saint-Émiland near Tonnerre (Yonne) and near 
Autun (Saône-et-Loire). 

Roads are another way to convey relics. Thus those of St. Fauste, an Eastern 
martyr of the 4th century, reacheding Vic-Fezensac (Gers) in the 8th century, 
hence the parish name of Sainte-Fauste a few kilometers away. In 864 monks 
of Solignac transported them to Brivezac (Corrèze), whose church was once 
dedicated to this saint, hence the name Sainte-Fortunade (Latin fausta and 
fortunata means ‘happy’) given to a parish a few miles away and dedicated to 
St. Martial a long time ago, becoming parrochia Sanctae Fortunatae in 894 
(AUBRUN 1981: 331). In 1237 the abbot of the Cistercian monastery of La 
Prée in Ségry (Indre) sought authorization to commemorate the saint’s memory 
and in 1247 the relics were finally transferred to La Prée (LEMAÎTRE 1985 
[1987]: 117), hence the parish name of Sainte-Fauste formerly named La 
Ferté, a few miles away.  
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The creation of new settlements often led to the foundation of a church and a 
new parish entity (cf. MORINEAU 1986: 288). In some areas of medieval 
dioceses, hagiotoponyms are more numerous than in others. Thus, in the 
diocese of Béziers (Hérault), one village out of two on the heights of the 
Causses bears a saint’s name, but only one out of fifteen on the plain (BOURIN 
1990: 35). This phenomenon is repeated across France, but in very different 
proportions depending on the area. The large density of these hagiotoponyms 
is very often due to a high density of parishes: the many parishes come from 
the division of larger, earlier parishes bearing a name formed before the 8th cen-
tury; this division was mostly performed between the 8th and the 12th centuries. 
On the periphery of the diocese of Périgueux (Dordogne), the Merovingian 
parish of Vieux-Mareuil was dismembered during the Carolingian period, 
during which time three new parishes were named Saint-Pardoux, Saint-
Priest and Saint-Sulpice (HIGOUNET-NADAL 1983: 58). 

It is noteworthy that this phenomenon is far more important on the periphery 
of old dioceses than within their territories: zones of high hagiotoponymy 
reflect areas where the Church influence was made later. Typical of Episcopal 
wills are parishes named Saint-Étienne in the diocese of Uzès (Gard), where 
the cathedral is dedicated to St. Étienne; Saint-Julien in the diocese of Le Mans 
(Sarthe), whose cathedral is dedicated to St. Julien; Saint-Maurice in the dio-
cese of Angers (Maine-et-Loire), whose cathedral is dedicated to St. Maurice; 
Saint-Privat in the diocese of Mende (Lozère), whose cathedral is dedicated 
to St. Privat; Saint-Étienne in the diocese of Cahors (Lot), whose cathedral is 
dedicated to St. Étienne. Such churches were named during the 10th century or 
around the year 1000: because of such names in the diocese of Uzès (Gard), 
and of the patron saint change in the cathedral of Le Mans dedicated to Sts 
Gervais and Protais before the 10th century. Similarly, it is undisputed that most 
parishes and other places named Sainte-Colombe are limiting to dioceses 
before the 14th century: it appears that his cult was especially developed from 
the mid-7th century (TERRIEN 2007: 131) for the new foundation of parishes 
during the 7–8th centuries. 

These different modes of religious propagation and the different hagiotoponymic 
motivations have undoubtedly affected the saints’ name distribution through-
out the territory. Notwithstanding, there are regional patterns that can be 
observed. 

In Breton Brittany, a little over 52% of communes’ names are based on a 
saint’s name: it is the highest rate in France. About 65% of them are com-
pounds whose first element is an Old Breton word, the most frequent are plou 
‘parish’, lann ‘hermitage’, treff ‘village’ and lok ‘sacred place’. Place names 
formed on these common nouns were created around the 8th century, those 
based on lok around the 11th century and after. At the origin of these formations  
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are group migrations from the island Britannia (modern Great Britain) led by 
monks and other clerics that the local population, once installed in Brittany, 
treated like saints. The population evinced a religious cult, giving names to 
the primitive churches, which later became parish and village names. 

By contrast, Alsace, with just under 3% of communes’ names based on a saint’s 
name, has the lowest percentage in France. It seems that the main reason is 
the tight networking of villages which existed in the 8th century, preventing a 
more or less massive creation of parishes later. Here, the earliest attested names 
are formed solely on the saint’s name (e.g. Ostwald and Walburg in the Bas-
Rhin), or a compound (in 720: Loewatzell > Marmoutier, Bas-Rhin), in the 8th 
century. The few compounds in domnus go back to this period. The first 
syntagm in sanctus is attested in the 9th century (Saint-Hippolyte, Haut-Rhin), 
replacing an older name for the parish church name. 

Similarly, the Pyrenean foothills from the Atlantic to the Mediterranean contain 
very few communes’ names based on saints’ names. An examination of these 
municipal areas, related to the historical records, suggests that such parishes 
were established later, after the break-up of existing parishes. In the department 
of Pyrénées-Orientales, where Carolingian documentation is very abundant, 
parishes founded during this period are numerous, but only the parishes of 
prior origin remain as matrices, and managed to survive until the end of the 
Ancien Régime, while most of the Carolingian parishes disappeared during 
the late Middle Ages, following the destruction of churches or the loss of their 
parish status. 

The mountainous centre of France, that is to say the Massif Central, concen-
trates the largest proportion of communes’ names based on saints’ names, 
between 14 and 30%. The process that led to such developments can be found 
in the reading of a polyptych from the abbey of Saint-Pierre-le-Vif de Sens 
(first half of the 9th century), which lists the domains owned by the abbey in 
the mountainous area at the edge of the current departments of Cantal and 
Corrèze, at the time the dioceses of Clermont and Limoges (ROUCHE 1993). 
Of the 132 domains, 25% refer to an ecclesia or capella with his dedication 
and nearly a third of these churches gave their names to the villages where they 
are located. These places are located in mid-mountain countries around ancient 
Gallo-Roman areas; the polyptych provides evidence that these mountains 
were won by the parishes’ dismemberment before the 9th century (FOURNIER 
1962: 120–121). Similar trends are found in most areas more or less moun-
tainous and (then) forested of the Massif Central, including Limousin. The 
parish network of the 18th century seems to have been established quite early 
in these areas. 

The countries of western France, from Gironde to Haute-Normandie included, 
are experiencing a similar widespread distribution of communes’ names based  
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on saints’ names, between 16 and 29%. In the region of Entre-Deux-Mers, that 
is to say between the river Dordogne and Gironde, almost 30% of these names 
are thus formed, but much later than in the Massif Central: third designating 
parishes established before the 9th century, more than half of the parishes es-
tablished between the 11th and the 13th century (FARAVEL 1991). It seems that 
in other areas of these countries, the phenomenon is identical during the same 
periods, due to the break-up of existing parishes, creation of new parishes by 
clearing (relatively frequent in Normandy, for example; BEAUREPAIRE 1981: 
36), replacing the old names. However, we must not generalize: in the Charente 
region, for example, “the parish organization is almost entirely up to the end 
of the Merovingian period ” (DEBORD 1984: 36), that is to say that very few 
hagiotoponyms are formed after the year 1000. 

The regions of eastern and northern France, unlike other areas, have a relatively 
low presence of communes’ names based on saints’ names. The reason seems 
to be the same almost everywhere: the parish system was established before 
the 11th century, and few new parishes which appeared later bore a saint’s 
name. As a basis for this we can take the example of the diocese of Autun, 
through its oldest pouillés (LONGNON 1904: 63ff.), one from the 11th century, 
the other before 1312. The oldest pouillé is incomplete, damaged by the book-
binder and age. However, its data are useful in determining a small increase 
in the number of parishes, and the number of hagiotoponyms is very low. 
This is related to two factors: the increasing number of parishes on the one 
hand, and the replacement with the parish church names of original place 
names (Gallo-Roman) on the other. In addition, many of the current hagio-
toponyms replaced the original places names only during the 14–15th centuries. 

We do not know the reason why, in the 10th century, the proportion of parishes 
named after a saint varies so much area by area. We saw above many argu-
ments based on local and ecclesiastical history. Further arguments have been 
advanced concerning agricultural history (LEROY-LADURIE 1983), and strongly 
rejected by the relevant historians (see MORINEAU 1986). An argument of 
geo-historical order has so far not been invoked: the areas of France where 
hagiotoponymy is weaker belong to Lotharingie after the division of the 
Frankish Empire in 843. It may be reasonable to expect that the movement to 
create new parishes was sharply reduced in this vast territory from the 9th 
century, thus preventing a possible increase in the number of hagiotoponyms. 

4. The hagiotoponyms appear in different forms. The simple form is neither 
more frequent nor the oldest, apparently. The first example is attested in Alsace 
in 713: Laurentio > Lorentzen (Bas-Rhin). The church dedicated to St. Laurent 
leaves no doubt about the interpretation of the name. Bearing in mind that the 
names of places formed on the simple patron saint name appeared very early 
in the sources, either in simple form, derived or compounded, that such a  
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formation is common especially in Brittany where hagiotoponyms are both 
early and frequent, and that this tradition has continued even during the Middle 
Ages until today (cf. on the one hand the many places named Madelaine, on 
the other hand many cases of hesitation between employment and absence of 
Saint- from the Middle Ages to the 19th century, both in the parishes and lo-
calities names), it is clear that we need to consider place names not preceded 
by Sanctus- ~ Saint- as popular forms, names preceded by Sanctus- ~ Saint- 
as forms produced by various ecclesiastical authorities. 

The simple forms can also appear feminized: in the 11th century for Albanne 
(Savoie) < St. Albanus. 

One gender and number change is notable, only attested in the early 14th cen-
tury for Lauresses (Lot) < St. Laurentius; it is surely more ancient (FONT-
RÉAULX  1961: 451). 

The derivative forms are apparently the oldest and are characteristic of the 5–7th 
centuries. 

With the Latin suffix -anum, typical of southern areas between the 2th and 5th 
centuries, Martian (Gers) formed on the name of St. Martinus (died in 397). 
The site is located in a vast area where the Latin suffix is more present in the 
ancient names than the suffix -acum. 

With the Latin suffix -acum of Gallic origin, but which was used to form names 
between the 1st century B.C. and the 6th century, Générac (Gironde) formed 
on the name of St. Genesius (died in c. 303), or Pédernec (Côtes-d’Armor) on 
the Welsh name of St. Paterne (5–6th centuries). The suffix is one of the oldest 
in French toponymy, but spread over an expansion more or less depending on 
the area. 

The suffix -iacum, a late variant from -acum, was commonly used in names 
formed principally during the 5–6th centuries, e.g. Martigny (Aisne, Calvados, 
Manche, Seine-Maritime) formed on the name of St. Martinus. About fifteen 
communes’ names have undoubtedly been formed in this way, where the parish 
saint patron is identical to the place name eponym. Its use is more common in 
the North than in the South of France, and is characterized by a radical often 
of Germanic origin: a common noun or a personal name. 

The Latin suffix -anicum, already used in classical Latin to form adjectives on 
country names, was used only during the 5–6th centuries in the French topo-
nymic nomenclature, e.g. Martignargues (Gard) formed on the name of St. 
Martinus. This suffix use is characteristic of the Massif Central and especially 
its eastern part from North to South. 

The Germanic suffix -ing, was probably in use from the 5th century in Gaul, e.g. 
Welferding (Moselle) formed on the name of St. Walfridus; its late attestation  
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(Welfertingen in 1508), subsequent to S. Walfredo in 1221 (HIEGEL–HIEGEL 

1986: 368) in regular use until the 16th century, could be considered most 
certainly as a very late reconstruction on a toponymic suffix well known in 
the area. This suffix was indeed used to form, from the fall of the Roman 
Empire, many place names throughout the quarter eastern France especially, 
and particularly in Germanic Lorraine and Alsace. 

The oldest compounded forms during the 5–7th centuries all have the distinc-
tion of not using the epithet sanctus or dominus (or even beatus). 

The Latin villa ‘domain’ > ‘village’, wherever it was used in composition in 
names during the Middle Ages, is difficult to date precisely in the absence of 
firm data; we can cite as an example, Marteville (Aisne) formed on the name 
of St. Martinus. 

The medieval Latin curtis ‘enclosure’ > ‘domain’ > ‘village’, wherever used 
in composition in names during the High Middle Ages alone (5–8th centuries), 
created a few names, of which we can cite Martincourt (Oise) formed on the 
name of St. Martinus. This is particularly characteristic of the northern part of 
France through its high frequency, but is not absent from the South either. 

The Frankish heim ‘dwelling, home’, used in composition from the 7th century, 
gives us a few names, e.g. Lorentzen (Bas-Rhin), attested in Loranzenheim in 
746 (BISCH–MULLER-ZEIGER 1995: II, 30), formed on the name of St. Lau-
rentius. This is particularly characteristic of Alsace and Germanic Lorraine. 

The Latin cella ‘cellule; monastery’, commonly used in composition (but 
more often in a syntagm) likely from the 7th century, hence the old name of 
Marmoutier Loewatzell in 720 (translation from Latin *Leopardi cella). With 
a saint or founder name (whether abbot or not), this type is quite common all 
over France during the High Middle Ages. 

A little later, from the 7–8th centuries, other compounds appeared formed on 
other common nouns: some belong to the religious vocabulary, such as altare 
‘altar’, atrium ‘churchyard; burial-place’, capella ‘chapel’, crux ‘cross’, eccle-
sia ‘church’, hospitale ‘hospital’, monasterium ‘monastery; church (Eastern)’, 
oratorium ‘oratory; chapel’ and the others to topographic vocabulary such as 
mons ‘height; castle’, pons ‘bridge’, rocca ‘height; castle’, vallis ‘valley’. All 
the compound names formed until the 10th century have the distinction of not 
using the epithet sanctus or dominus (or even beatus); when they are first 
attested in a syntagmatic form, the epithet may appear before the year 1000. 
After that, the use as an epithet dominates. 

It is notable that place names formed on Domnus + hagionym are all com-
pounds, e.g. Dommartin; that those formed on Sanctus + hagionym are nearly 
all syntagms, such as Saint-Martin. There are a few exceptions, especially 
notable in Berry since the 11th century, such as Sancerre (Cher) < castrum  
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Sancti Satyri (BOYER–LATOUCHE 1926: 326), where Saint is no longer recog-
nizable because it is phonetically and graphically advanced. In addition, when 
place names are themselves used as determinants, those with Domnus are 
systematically compounds such as Domartemont (Meurthe-et-Moselle), while 
those with Sanctus are almost all syntagms, such as Mont-Saint-Martin 
(Meurthe-et-Moselle), except in rare instances in the East of France, e.g. Saint 
Pieremont in 1144–1145, now Saint-Pierremont (Vosges) (MARICHAL 1941: 
393). 

Latin texts throughout the Middle Ages used three epithets before a saint’s 
name derived from ecclesiastical vocabulary (ecclesia, basilica, capella, ora-
torium, etc.), in order of decreasing frequency: sanctus, domnus and beatus 
(DELEHAYE 1927: 24–69). This is relatively frequent in a lexical sequence, it 
is very rare in a toponymic one such as porta Beati Eparchii in 769 in 
Angoulême (Charente) (LEFRANCQ 1930: n° 31). Well represented in the 
Latin forms of place names until the mid-18th century, it has left no trace in 
current names. 

The epithet domnus has already been well studied (AEBISCHER 1936). From 
the 5th to the 8th century, the contracted form of dominus was usually used 
before a saint’s name as an honorific, i.e. ‘(my) lord’. Whereas previously the 
charters and authors used domnus after basilica only in the expression ba-
silica sancti domni X ‘basilica of the holy Lord X’, in the acts of the Council 
of Paris (in 573) the expression domni basilica Petri (in Paris) appears 
(CLERCQ 1963: 215), where domnus now means the same thing as sanctus 
‘holy’. In toponymy, domnus appears the century after: Domnofronte in 675 
to designate Domfront in Maine (BOUCHARD 2004: n° 1). In vocabulary, after 
the year 1000, domnus is hardly in use before abbots’ names and sometimes has 
its old sense of ‘lord’; cf. Villar-Saint-Anselme (Aude) 1319: de Vilario, 1351: 
de Vilari Domini Ancelli, 1571: le villa de Moussen Anssel, 1706: le Vila 
Saint Anselme; where Old Occitan moussen means ‘my lord’ (SABARTHÈS 

1912: 470). In toponymy, there are only rare examples after the year 1000 
with Domnus used as an alternative to Sanctus in place names: this is the case 
of Villiers-Saint-Georges (Seine-et-Marne): Vilers Dangeorge in 1249, Villers 
Saint George in 1497 (STEIN–HUBERT 1954: 573). In Latin name forms, 
Domnus is not always agglutinated with the saint’s name; in the French forms, 
on the contrary, it still is. Domnus place names are widespread only in the 
northern half of France, with the highest frequency in the East. Their distri-
bution corresponds to historical data: tokens are almost absent from Brittany, 
Aquitaine, absent from Septimania and Provence, however, they are present in 
Neustria, Austrasia and Burgundy. Clearly, this distribution suggests that, in 
essence, it predates the mid-8th century, that is to say, before the rise in 
Frankish power in the western and southern provinces won by Charles Martel.  
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The epithet sanctus, which appeared in place names from the 6th century, is 
rarely used in the case of names in Domnus, if these are not of great antiquity; 
e.g. Dommartin-le-Saint-Père (Haute-Marne) was capella Sancti Martini in 
857, then Domnus Martinus in 1263 (ROSEROT 1903: 59). The reverse situation 
also occurs for Saint-Léger-sous-Beuvray (Saône-et-Loire), which was orato-
rium Domni Leodegarii = oratorium Sancti Leodegarii in 696 (DÉLÉAGE 
1936: n° 1). The use of the epithet has continued in vocabulary and toponymy, 
whether in Latin or in vernacular languages, to this day. Its use is unstable in 
the written names because it often fails in oral use: thus in Brittany, in many 
place names beginning with Saint-, Breton people pronounce only the simple 
saint’s name: Saint-Barthélemy is pronounced Bertelame in local Breton 
(VALLERIE 1995: 182). The distribution of Saint- names in the French territory 
is due to geo-historical (see above at the end of the part 3) and historic-
linguistic motivation (such formations in Breton Brittany start to become 
numerous only from the 10th century). 

5. Hagiotoponyms have undergone many changes over the long term that can 
be classified according to linguistic terminology as phonetic, morphological, 
syntactic, semantic or onomastic changes. 

Phonetic changes. Many are those related to changing the saint’s name inside 
syntagms like Saint-Yorre (Allier) and compounds like Dangeul (Sarthe), both 
formed on the name Georgius. Such a change may also affect the first element 
Sanctus, from lexical origin, which may result in syntagms in Sanch- by 
deglutination (1292: Sancti Yleri > 1270: Sanchele > 1437: Saint Chile > Saint-
Chély-du-Tarn, Lozère; BRUNEL 1925: 95), or in t- by wrong segmentation 
(c. 1200: Sanctum Errehaudum > 1427: Saint Terrehault > 17th century: Terre 
Haute > Terrehault, Sarthe; VALLÉE–LATOUCHE 1952: 887); in compounds 
in San- (1034: castrum Sancti Satyri > Sancerre, Cher; BOYER–LATOUCHE 

1926: 326), even denasalized Se- (1438: capella S. Maximi, St. Mesme > Semème, 
Mayenne; BESZARD 1910: 246). Some phonetic changes require research on 
the medieval forms to find the true etymon. Such a change may also affect the 
saint’s name in a compound, such as denasalized Samer (Pas-de-Calais) from 
Sanctus Ulmarus in 1112 (LOISNE 1907: 352). 

Morphological changes. The distinctive hagiotoponymic feature is volatile: 
Saint-Pol-de-Léon (Finistère) is attested as oppidum Pauli = oppidum Sancti 
Paulinanni in c. 869–870 (VALLERIE 1995: 206). On the contrary, Sixt-sur-
Aff (Ille-et-Vilaine) is attested as Siz in 848 and plebe Sancti Sixti martiris in 
1037 (COURSON 1863: n° CVI and CCCXXX). We can also note the unusual 
absence of sanctus in the church name: aecclesia Sixti martiris in 879 
(n° CCI). This hesitation in using Saint- or not continued in parish names 
until the 18th century, and in locality names into the 20th century.  
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Compound formation from a common noun is attested very early: Loewatzell 
in 720. Such a toponymic formation is characteristic of the High Middle Ages: 
after the year 1000 syntagms took over, such as La Celle-Saint-Avant (Indre-
et-Loire), Cella Sancti Adventi c. 1089 (CARRÉ DE BUSSEROLLE 1879: II, 52). 

The composition of a hagiotoponym based on an existing place name is rare 
but well documented: Chaer in 856 becomes Loc Maria Kaer in 1082 and 
Loumariaker in 1548, finally Locmariaquer (Morbihan) (VALLERIE 1995: 
104). However, the process is much more common with syntagms: for example 
Fontaine-Notre-Dame (Aisne) 955: Fontana > 1276: territorio Fontanis Beate 
Marie (MALSY 1999: 419). 

Some place names show the popular hypocoristic use of the saint’s name: 
Domprot (1145: Damperet, Marne; LONGNON 1891: 90), Saint-Bresson (1144: 
de Sancto Bricio > 1275: de Sancto Brecone, Haute-Saône; La Haute-Saône 
150). This phenomenon does not appear earlier than the 12th century. It can 
lead to confusion between two saints: the church of Saint-Antonin (Alpes-
Maritimes), place named Sanct Antolin c. 1200 (COMPAN 1995: 59), is in fact 
dedicated to St. Antoine of Lérins celebrated on December 28th and not St. 
Antonin celebrated on September 2nd. 

Syntactic changes. Relatively many instances have both members of the hagio-
toponymic syntagm reversed in time, the determiner becomes the determined, 
and vice versa: La Chapelle-Montlinard (Cher) is Mons Linardi de Capella in 
1106, then villa Capella de Molinart in 1256 (BOYER–LATOUCHE 1926: 91). 
This phenomenon has lasted until today: Saint Martin de Cande in 1479 
became Candes-Saint-Martin in 1949, a famous place where St. Martin died. 
We can note that the trend has been very strong since the early 19th century to 
put the hagiotoponym determiner after the determined toponym: the reason is 
probably the desire to emphasize the secular name in front of the clearly 
religious name. It is neither a clean rejection from religious place names (names 
in Saint- would have been deleted) nor a clean membership (they would have 
been left at the head of the syntagms), but a willingness to create uniformity 
on a given type, clearly inherited from the revolutionary period. Most of these 
syntactic changes occurred before 1837 when a law fixed the formal name 
change of communes (MOTTE et al. 2003: 32). 

Semantic changes. Hagiotoponyms have undergone a renewed motivation. 
Thus, Saint Mars in 1301 was renewed as Cinq Mars in 1547, today Cinq-
Mars-la-Pile (Indre-et-Loire) (CARRÉ DE BUSSEROLLE 1882: IV, 196): this 
process was facilitated by the fact that saint and cinq ‘five’ are homophones 
before a consonant. Sometimes place names have been renewed in hagiotopo-
nyms: among them, Quinque Casae c. 1050 was renewed as Saint Chaize in 
1626, today Saint-Chaise (Eure-et-Loire) (MERLET 1861: 162; cf. also *Cin-
quatia > 1287: Sana Casa ‘good home’ > 1334: Saint Caise > today: Saincaize  
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(Nièvre); SOULTRAIT 1865: 163). Homophony of cinq and saint is still the 
reason why. Notwithstanding, the oldest remotivation is the Old High German 
translation of a Latin hagionym: Loewatzell in 720 (‘monastery of the lion’) 
that translates the Latin *Leopardi cella (‘monastery of St. Léopard’), today 
Marmoutier (Bas-Rhin). 

Onomastic changes. They concern the saint’s name itself. In many parishes, 
the arrival of new relics in a church or some other event may cause a change 
to the church’s patron saint. The parish then retains its former one, and the 
church gets the new one. Thus Sanctus Hilarius de Cuneo in 1179 became S. 
Fiacrius de Cognio in 1574, now Saint-Fiacre (Loire-Atlantique) (QUILGARS 
1906: 253). The patron saint change of the eponymous abbey can also lead to 
a place name change: e.g. the dependency of the abbey of Saint-Ouen in 
Rouen—the place is called Crux Sancti Audoeni in 844 but Crux Sancti 
Leufredi in 1198 in St. Leufroy’s memory, founder of the monastery, hence 
the current name La Croix-Saint-Leufroy (Eure) (BEAUREPAIRE 1981: 97). It 
is the same for the city of Saint-Claude (Jura): the monastery Saint-Oyend so 
dedicated during the 8th century gave its name to the city after the year 1000; 
but the pilgrimage to the relics of St. Claude led the change of the monastery’s 
patron saint during the 13th century, which gave its new name to the city at the 
beginning of the 15th century. Throughout the 15th century, however, many 
documents again mention the name Saint-Oyend for both the abbey and the 
city. The late changes to churches’ patron saints, however, affected very few 
place names, and the local churches ensured that the new saint’s name was 
phonetically similar to that of the former: at Charlemont (Ardennes), St. 
Charlemagne was replaced by St. Charles-Borromée in 1858, and thus the 
town’s name was not affected. 

Among the changes, those that occurred during the French Revolution 
deserve a special mention (FIGUÈRES 1901). In 1793 and 1794, the National 
Convention and Popular Societies decide to make French society secular and 
republican in its entirety: institutions, religion, proper names, etc. So communes, 
districts and streets names were secularized, but so also were Christian names 
(after the revolutionary calendar instead of the Gregorian calendar) and some 
surnames. These changes continued for a greater or shorter time depending on 
the local fervour. Regarding the communes’ names, Napoleon the 1st put a defi-
nitive end to the revolutionary experience. In some rare cases, the revolutionary 
name has been preserved like Bellevue-la-Montagne (Haute-Loire) (CHASSAING–
JACOTIN 1907: 24), before 1793 called Saint-Just-près-Chomelix and again 
from 1795 to 1896 when a decree at the municipality’s request returned its 
revolutionary name; the other French commune which was given the same 
name in 1793 quickly regained its prior name of Saint-Benezet-de-Cheyran 
(Gard).  
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In each department of France, at least one name in Saint- was changed by the 
revolutionaries. However, this change was rarely systematic. Names in Dom- 
whose etymology was rarely understood, were hardly affected: Dommartin 
(Vosges) > Martin-Libre, but Saint-Pierre-lès-Calais (Pas-de-Calais) was re-
placed by Dampierre-les-Dunes. 

As before, we present a few aspects of phonetic, morphological, syntactic, se-
mantic, onomastic changes. 

Phonetic changes. The French hagionym is replaced by its dialectal form with 
aphesis: Saint-Hippolyte-de-Montaigu (Gard) > Polithe-Montaigu; Saint-
Symphorien-lès-Charolles (Saône-et-Loire) > Phorien-lès-Charolles. On the 
contrary, the dialectal hagionym is replaced by its French form: Saint-Lary 
(Haute-Garonne) > Mont-Ilaire; Saint-Forgeot (Saône-et-Loire) > Ferréol. 

Morphological changes. The basic principle of revolutionary secularism is the 
abolition of Saint(e)- in place names: thus Saint-Apollinaire (Hautes-Alpes) > 
Apollinaire. 

When the hagionym is retained, a common noun may be added as the deter-
mined: thus forming a compound, Saint-Arnoult (Cher) > Arnoultval, or Saint-
Médard (Gers) > Montmédard; most often forming a new syntagm, Saint-
Martin-de-Renacas (Alpes-de-Haute-Provence) > Mont-Martin. Hagionyms 
rarely undergo apocopation: Saint-Félicien (Ardèche) > Félisval. 

If the adjective is placed inside a toponymic syntagm, adjective and hagionym 
are generally removed, replaced by a proper name or a common noun, or by 
nothing at all. Rare are the exceptions, like Le Bois-Sainte-Marie (Saône-et-
Loire) > Bois-Marie. 

The hagionym may rarely undergo hypocoristic suffixation: Saint-Christol > 
Christolet, Saint-Cyr > Ciran, Saint-Victor > Victoral (all in Ardèche). The 
last form is based on a suffix borrowed from the vocabulary of the new revo-
lutionary calendar: all the names of the months of spring end in -al. 

The use of the suffix may also be intended solely to replace the hagionym by 
the common noun which corresponds to its adjectival etymon: Saint-Clément 
> La Clémence ‘mercy’ and Saint-Félix > La Félicité ‘bliss’, both in Charente-
Maritime. 

Syntactic changes. The determiner can become the determined, and vice versa: 
Saint-Martin-des-Bois (Loir-et-Cher) > Bois-Martin; La Chapelle-Saint-Pierre 
(Oise) > Pierre-la-Montagne. 

Semantic changes. Hagiotoponyms are obviously the subject of renewed motiv-
ation. Thus, Saint-Cyr (Loir-et-Cher) became Cinq-Bougies (‘five candles’): a 
process facilitated by the fact that saint and cinq ‘five’ are homophones before 
a consonant, and Cyr homophonous with cire ‘wax’. In most cases, the renewed  
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motivation concerns the only hagionym: Saint-Cierge (Ardèche) > Cireval 
(cierge ‘candle’ > cire ‘wax’). 

The use of translation aims to transform the hagionym into a well-known 
common noun: Saint-Jal (Corrèze) > Coq-Hardy; in Occitan from Limousin, 
jal means ‘cock’. 

Onomastic changes. The pun is the main vector for change in onomastics. 
Secularizing the names is not enough: it is time to mock religion. When the 
place name is taken in its entirety, Saint-Dau (Lot) becomes Ceint-d’Eau 
(‘surrounded by water’), Saint-Pience (Manche) > Sapience (‘wisdom’), 
Saint-Genest (Haute-Vienne) > Sans-Préjugé (‘without prejudice’: Genest has 
been interpreted gêné ‘embarrassed’). When only the adjective Saint- is 
omitted, Saint-Pierre-le-Vieux (Saône-et-Loire) becomes Pierre-Neuve (‘new 
stone’). When only the hagionym is targeted, Saint-Bohaire (Loir-et-Cher) 
becomes Bien-Boire (‘drink well’: Bohaire and boire are homophones), Saint-
Maur-des-Fossés (Val-de-Marne) > Vivant-sur-Seine (‘living’: Maur and mort 
‘dead’ are homophones) and Saint-Bonnet (Charente-Maritime, Corrèze, 
Saône-et-Loire) > Bonnet-Rouge (‘red hat’, a revolutionary symbol). 

6. French hagiotoponymy now appears much more varied in time, space and 
linguistic structures than was previously assumed. The parallel study of 
parishes’ and churches’ patron saints is needed to better understand the various 
forms of these place names and their motivations. Each name has a particular 
history: it is a proper name. And by combining and comparing these specific 
stories we can draw a picture, even if imperfect, about patrociny settlement 
names. 
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Map 2 Derived names (5–7th centuries). 

  
Map 3 Compound names (5–7th centuries).  



Pierre-Henri Billy 

 
28 

 
Map 4 Domnus, -a. 

 
Map 5 Sanctus, -a.   


